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Preliminary Consultation
MONTGOMERY COUNTY HISTORIC PRESERVATION COMMISSION
STAFF REPORT

Address: 7700 Seven Locks Rd., Bethesda Meeting Date: 2/26/2020

Resource: Master Plan Site #29/39 Report Date: 2/19/2019
Gibson Grove AME Zion Church
Public Notice: 2/12/2019

Applicant: First Agape AME Zion Church
(Thomas Taltavull, Architect) Tax Credit: N/A
Review: Preliminary Consultation Staff: Michael Kyne

Case Number: N/A

PROPOSAL: Demolition and stabilization

STAFF RECOMMENDATION:

Staff recommends that the applicants make any revisions based upon the HPC’s comments and return
with a HAWP application.

ARCHITECTURAL DESCRIPTION:

SIGNIFICANCE: Master Plan Site #29/39
Gibson Grove African Methodist Episcopal Zion Church
DA TE: 1923 w/ 1979 Addition

Excerpt from Places from the Past:
29/39 Gibson Grove African Methodist Episcopal Zion Church (1923)

This church represents the historic Gibson Grove community of African-Americans established in
the late 1800s. The church structure exemplifies a popular building type for modest rural
churches with a one-room block and off-center belfry.

The Gibson Grove community grew out of land sales in the 1880s to black farm workers in the
area. About 1885, J.D. W. Moore, white farmer and stone quarry operator, sold several five-acre
lots to black families who had worked on his farm. Families included the Scotts, Carters, and the
Jacksons. The namesake for the community was Sarah Gibson who donated part of her land for
the establishment of a church and school, to provide the opportunity for blacks who worship and
be educated near their homes.

The Gibson Grove AME Zion Church was organized in | 898 when a log structure was built on
the land donated by Sarah Gibson. This denomination was originally fonned in New York City in
the early 1800s, after black members of a white Methodist congregation experienced
discrimination. Gibson Grove is one of three AME Zion Churches known to have been formed in
Montgomery County, the others being Scotland AME Zion, and Clinton AME Zion, in Rockville.
The present church was constructed in 1923.
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The building exemplifies a popular building form with its front facing gable and corner belfry. A
rear frame ell was added in 1979.

The church was damaged by fire in 2004 and by a fallen tree in July 2015.
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7700 Seven Locks Road

Fig. 1: Subject property.

BACKGROUND:

The applicants previously appeared before the Commission at the September 27, 2011 (preliminary
consultation), June 13, 2012 (HAWP, continued), and September 2, 2015 (HAWP, continued) HPC
meetings seeking partial or complete demolition of the church building. Specifics regarding those
meetings and the previous proposals are detailed further in the Staff Discussion section of this report.
PROPOSAL:

The applicant proposes the following work items at the subject property:

e Removal/demolition of the 1979 addition and most of the 1923 church building, leaving the
facade in place.

APPLICABLE GUIDELINES:

In accordance with section 1.5 of the Historic Preservation Commission Rules, Guidelines, and
Procedures (Regulation No. 27-97) ("Regulations™), in developing its decision when reviewing a Historic
Area Work Permit application for an undertaking at a Master Plan site the Commission uses section 24A-
8 of the Montgomery County Code ("Chapter 24A"), the Secretary of the Interior's Standards for
Rehabilitation ("Standards"), and pertinent guidance in applicable master plans. The pertinent
information in these documents, incorporated in their entirety by reference herein, is outline below.

Montgomery County Code; Chapter 24A-8
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The commission shall instruct the director to deny a permit if it finds, based on the evidence and
information presented to or before the commission that the alteration for which the permit is
sought would be inappropriate, inconsistent with or detrimental to the preservation, enhancement
or ultimate protection of the historic site or historic resource within an historic district, and to the
purposes of this chapter.

The commission shall instruct the director to issue a permit, or issue a permit subject to such
conditions as are found to be necessary to insure conformity with the purposes and requirements
of this chapter, if it finds that:

(1) The proposal will not substantially alter the exterior features of an historic site or historic
resource within an historic district; or

(2) The proposal is compatible in character and nature with the historical, archeological,
architectural or cultural features of the historic site or the historic district in which an historic
resource is located and would not be detrimental thereto or to the achievement of the
purposes of this chapter; or

(3) The proposal would enhance or aid in the protection, preservation and public or private
utilization of the historic site or historic resource located within an historic district in a
manner compatible with the historical, archeological, architectural or cultural value of the
historic site or historic district in which an historic resource is located; or

(4) The proposal is necessary in order that unsafe conditions or health hazards be remedied; or

(5) The proposal is necessary in order that the owner of the subject property not be deprived of
reasonable use of the property or suffer undue hardship; or

(6) In balancing the interests of the public in preserving the historic site or historic resource
located within an historic district, with the interests of the public from the use and benefit
of the alternative proposal, the general public welfare is better served by granting the
permit.

It is not the intent of this chapter to limit new construction, alteration or repairs to any 1 period or
architectural style.

Secretary of the Interior’s Standards for Rehabilitation:

The Secretary of the Interior defines rehabilitation as “the act or process of making possible a compatible
use for a property through repair, alterations, and additions while preserving those portions or features,
which convey its historical, cultural, or architectural values.” Because the property is a Master Plan Site,
the Commission’s focus in reviewing the proposal should be the Secretary of the Interior’s Standards for
Rehabilitation. The Standards are as follows:

A property shall be used for its historic purpose or be placed in a new use that requires minimal
change to the defining characteristics of the building and its site and environment.

The historic character of a property shall be retained and preserved. The removal of historic
materials or alteration of features and spaces that characterize a property shall be avoided.
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3. Each property shall be recognized as a physical record of its time, place, and use. Changes that
create a false sense of historical development, such as adding conjectural features or architectural
elements from other buildings, shall not be undertaken.

4, Most properties change over time; those changes that have acquired historic significance in their
own right shall be retained and preserved.

5. Distinctive features, finishes, and construction techniques or examples of craftsmanship that
characterize a historic property shall be preserved.

6. Deteriorated historic features shall be repaired rather than replaced. Where the severity of
deterioration requires replacement of a distinctive feature, the new feature shall match the old in
design, color, texture, and other visual qualities and, where possible, materials. Replacement of
missing features shall be substantiated by documentary, physical, or pictorial evidence.

7. Chemical or physical treatments, such as sandblasting, that cause damage to historic materials
shall not be used. The surface cleaning of structures, if appropriate, shall be undertaken using the
gentlest means possible.

8. Significant archaeological resources affected by a project shall be protected and preserved. If
such resources must be disturbed, mitigation measures shall be undertaken.

9. New additions, exterior alterations, or related new construction shall not destroy historic materials
that characterize the property. The new work shall be differentiated from the old and shall be
compatible with the massing, size, scale, and architectural features to protect the historic integrity
of the property and its environment.

10. New additions and adjacent or related new construction shall be undertaken in such a manner that
if removed in the future, the essential form and integrity of the historic property and its
environment would be unimpaired.

STAFE DISCUSSION:

The applicants appeared before the Commission for a preliminary consultation at the September 27, 2011
HPC meeting. At that meeting, the applicants presented several proposals to the HPC, including one for
complete demolition of the church and construction of a new church, and one for demolition of the 1979
addition and rehabilitation of the historic block. The Commission supported the demolition of the 1979
addition and rehabilitation of the historic block, but not the demolition of the entire building. The
Commission also offered conceptual support for proposed additions and alterations to the church and site,
including a basement underneath the historic church and additional parking.

The applicants returned for a HAWP at the June 13, 2012 HPC meeting. At that time, they proposed to
remove the 1979 addition and rehabilitate the historic block, taking the Commission's previous
recommendations and concerns into account. HPC staff recommended approval of that proposal with the
following condition: "More detailed plans showing retaining walls, fences, railings, and all alterations to
the building and site will be submitted to staff before final approval." The case was continued at that
meeting because the applicants had not provided enough details about their proposal. Therefore, the
HAWP was never approved.

At the September 2, 2015 HPC meeting, the Commission heard a HAWP proposal to demolish and
remove the entire church from the site. The applicants' new proposal was based upon the cumulative
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damage caused by the 2004 fire, continued exposure to the elements over the years, and damage caused
by a fallen tree in July 2015. At that time, staff recommended that only the historically insignificant 1979
addition be removed. Staff’s recommendation was based upon a site visit to view the condition of the
church as well as an August 6, 2015 structural engineer’s report submitted by the applicants, which
concluded that, “while portions of the existing structure might be used in a new structure, this is a
situation in which recreation is more feasible than reuse."

The Commission continued the HAWP application at the September 2, 2015 HPC meeting, suggesting
that the applicants return with additional information to support complete demolition or an alternative
plan, which preserves the character-defining features of the 1923 building.

The applicants are now proposing removal/demolition of the 1979 addition and most of the 1923 church
building, leaving the fagade in place. The proposal will preserve the east end (front) of the 1923 church
building, including the entrance, bell tower, and first 5°-6”. The remaining building will be stabilized and
weatherproofed. In addition, all salvageable windows, wood siding, and trim will be stored for future
reconstruction of the 1923 building.

The applicants have provided an updated structural assessment dated April 19, 2018. The assessment
found the east end (front) of the 1923 church building “relatively unscathed.” Consistent with the
applicants’ current proposal, the assessment found that “the roof and wall framing of the entrance
enclosure as well as the first 5' to 6' of the main structure (including the bell tower) remain upright, plumb
and intact.” Further, the assessment states that “it is indeed possible to carefully detach this portion of the
structure from the remainder of the structure for the purposes of re-integrating it into a replacement
structure.”

Regarding recommendations, the assessment concludes:

Assuming that complete demolition is deemed to be unacceptable, we strongly recommend that
only the entrance enclosure and the first 5' to 6' of the main structure (including the bell tower) be
saved, and that the remainder of the structured be demolished. In addition, the exterior cladding
of the portion to be saved (i.e., the asbestos wall tiles and severely compromised asphalt roof
shingles) should be removed in its entirety due to health and material degradation reasons. In
other words, only the underlying wood framing elements should be re-integrated into the
replacement structure.

Given the information provided in the April 19, 2018 structural assessment, staff supports the applicants’
proposal. When submitting a formal HAWP application, the applicants should include a complete
stabilization plan, fully detailing how the remaining east end of the 1923 church building will be
stabilized and weatherproofed. Additional information should also be provided regarding the means by
which the existing building dimensions will be documented and how the retained windows, siding, and
trim will be stored.

Staff asks the Commission to provide any additional guidance regarding the appropriateness of the
proposal as well as any recommendations regarding the stabilization of the east end of the 1923 church
building and/or storage of the retained materials.

STAFF RECOMMENDATION:

Staff recommends that the applicants make any revisions based upon the HPC’s comments and return
with a HAWP application.
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& Duncnoton of exrtng seuctas(s) snd stvronmartal wsting, nchuding their hetoricsl festurw and signifcacs:

The existing structure is a 25' x 36' wood frame church, with a corner stone stating, "Gibson Grove AME Zion
Church, Re-built in 1923", with an concrete block 20° x 24' addition built in 1879, The building is setinto a
hillside of a sloped wooded site. Thare is no on site parking. The original church building was set on ashlar
masonry piers with wood floor, wall and roof framing. The church was originally clad in 5" German drop
siding that was covered with the current cement asbestos shingles. The church derives its significance
from its association with the African American settlement of Gibson Grove that was founded in the 1880s by
former slaves. The original church was a log structure that was replaced with the current edifice in 1923, Itis
the only remaining structure associated with the African-American Gibson Grove Community.

b Genarel descrgton of project and 13 ifect 0n the Aestone ressrtsis |, the STvonmental s#ang, and, where appiicable, the higtoric datict

The present building was severely damaged by fire in February 2004 and has been further deteriorated
by being open to the elements since that time. In July 2015 a large limb fell from a tree behind the
church tha hit the rear of the sanctuary and the addition. The roof and walls of the church and the
addition were severely damaged. See attached Structural Engineer's report. The project will consist
of demolishing the non contributing damaged 1979 addition and the damaged and deteriorated
portion of the church. The entrance enclosure and the first 5’ to 6’ of the main structure {including the
bell tower) will remain, be stabilized in place and weatherproofed. All salvageable windows, wood
siding and trim will be saved and stored.

SITEPLAN
Stta and ervironmental Setting, drwwn 1o SCal. You may use your pist. Yous sits plen must nclude:

& the scale, north srow, end date;
b. dimensions of ol existing end proposed stuctres; and

€ s beatures such ks walkwiys, dnivewatys, fences, ponds, STRamS, trash dumpsTir, mpchancyl squipmant, and landseaping.

4 Schamstic coastroction plass, with marked damensions, ndicatng locaton, size snd genersl Type of wakls, windaw snd door cpanings, and othar
fixed fantures of both the exsting resourceis) and the oroposed worl,

b, Elevanons (facades), with marked dimension, clearly indicating propasad work in raltion t existing constiuctian and, whev spgEopnate, contast
Al matanals and fotures proposed for the extway must be noted on the Sievetnms Sawinge. An sxisting and & pruposad slevetion driwing of sach
facads sffectad by the proposed work s required.

MATERIALS SPECIFICATIONS

General dscripion of matensls and mamctured tems proposad Ky ncorpartion in the work of the projpct. Thia sunmutinn may be included on your

design drewings.
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HAWP APPLICATION: MAILING ADDRESSES FOR NOTIFING
[Owner, Owner's Agent, Adjacent and Confronting Property Owners)

Owner’s mailing address Owner’s Agent’s mailing address
. Thomas J. Taltavull, Architect
First Agape AMEZ Church 20650 Plum Cresk Court
PO BOX 1016 O et
Burtonsville MD 20866 5 ggeze’s urg. Marylan

Adjacent and confronting Property Owners mailing addresses

Block R

Joo K & Oks Chur
7714 Seven Locks Road
Bethesda, MD 20817

Block R, Lot 100
Jaime A Montoya
8008 Thornley Court
Bethesda, MD 20817




Existing Property Condition Photographs (dupiicate as needed)
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Detai Photo No. 1: View of church structure (looking southwest)
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.. Photo No. 2. Front (east) elevation view of structure
Detail:_ . . ez -

Applicant:.___ Page:_




Existing Property Condition Photographs (duplicate as needed)

Applicant:
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Photo No. 3: Right Side (North) elevation view of structure

Detail:
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Photo No. 4: Rear (West) elevation view of damaged structure

Detail:




Existing Property Conditlon Photographs (duplicate as needed)

Photo No. 5: Rear (West) elevation view of damaged structure
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Photo No. 6: Left Side (South) elevation view of damaged structure

Detail: — -

Applicant:
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Existing Property Conditlon Photographs (duplicate as needed)

b

Detail:

Applicant:___

Photo No. 7: View of damaged structure looking Northwest
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REMOVE CARFET FLOORING

REMOVE CONCRETE MASONRY UNIT EXTERICR WALLS
AND FOUNDATIONS AT CHURCH

REMOVE ALL WOOO ROOF FRAMING AT 1579 ADDITIINS
COMPLETELY DAMAGED 5Y FALLEN TREE AND WATER
INFILTRATION

REMOVE ASSUMED WOOD FLOOR FRAMING OVER CRAWL
SPACE AND CMLU FOUNDATION WALLS AND FOOTINGS.

ASSUMED CONCRETE SLARB OM GRADE, CMI FOUNDATION
WALL AND FOOTNGS TO REMAIN UNTIL FUTURE ADOITION
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REWMOVE PORCH, STEPE AND RAILINGS.

CONTRACTOR TQ VERKFY LOCATION OF OIL TANK N
CRAWA SPACE AND REMOVE.

EX)STING ELECTRICAL PANEL, METER AND QVERHEAR
SERVICE LINE TO BE REMOVED.

PLUMBING. MECHANICAL AND ELECTRICAL CONTRACTOR
TO VISIT SITE AND CONSULT WITH OWWHER CONCERNING
ANY SYSTEMS AND EQUIFMENT TO REMAIN, ALL OTHER
EQUIPMENT, DEVICES, PIPING ETC SHALL BE REMOVED:
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REMOVED EXISTING NGH CONTRIBUTING WOOD STEPS.

REMOVE EXSSTING NON CONTRIBUTING DOUBLE DOORS,
HEAD TRIM ABOVE IS CONTRIBUTING AND /S TO REMAIN

EXISTING DOUBLE HUNG WOOD WINDOW, StX OVER ONE
AND WOOD INTERIOR AND EXTERIOR TRIM TO BE
REMOVED AND SALVASED

EXISTING BAY WIHDOW TO BE DEMOLISHED.
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REMOVE ROOF, WALL, FLOOR FRAMING, MASONRY
FOUHDATION AND FOOTINGS IN CHURCH DAMAGELD EY
FALLEN TREE AND WATER INTRUSION.

REMOVE ROOF, WALLS, FRAMED FLOORS AND
FOUNDATION AT 1970°S ADDIIONS,
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REMOVED AND SALVAGED.
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Structural Engineering, LLC

David G. Durst, PE. Nevin E. Taylor, P.E.

1228 Copper Beech Drive, York, PA 17403 211 Glenview Road, Spring Grove, PA 17362
Cell: (717) 793-7723 Cell: (717) 515-1590

Email: ddurst@dtselle.com Email: ntaylor@dtselle.com

April 19,2018

Elmer Anderson, Project Manager
Holland Construction

751 Frederick Street

Hanover, PA 17331

Re: Structural Assessment Letter Report
First Agape AME Zion Church
7700 Seven Locks Road, Bethesda, MD 20817
DTSE Project No. 0054-003-01

Dear Mr. Anderson:

Per your request, Durst & Taylor Structural Engineering, LLC (DTSE) performed a site visit to the above-noted
property on April 17, 2018 for the purposes of determining the existing structural conditions as well as to assess the
structure for possible rehabilitation. This letter summarizes the findings of this site visit, including a brief
description of the structure, inspection approach and findings, as well as our conclusions and recommendations.

Brief Structure Description

The existing structure is believed to be well over 100 years old, having been previously renovated in 1923 (as noted
on the cornerstone at the northeast corner). It is situated on a wooded hillside just northwest of the location where
Seven Locks Road extends beneath Interstate 495 (see Photo Nos. 1 thru 3). As there is no on-site parking, access

is made from a small parking lot on the east side of Seven Locks Road and just north of the structure. As seen in
Photo Nos. 4 thru 10, this one-story, wood-framed structure is clad with asbestos wall tiles and asphalt roof shingles.
It is believed that the original structure consists of the gabled roof portion along the north side (including the bell
tower near the front of the roof), with prior additions to the south. Foundations primarily consist of concrete
masonry unit (i.e., CMU, or “concrete block™) walls believed to be sitting on shallow spread concrete footings.

\
Inspection Approach }

Access to the locked and boarded structure was provided by Holland Construction. The vast majority of our
inspection involved visual observations of the building and its structural components. Beyond this, only a few
random hammer soundings of the foundation walls were performed to determine the latter’s general condition.
Documentation was made via written notes and digital photographs. Tools included a flashlight, awl (wood
penetration testing), hammer, and tape measure (to determine general member sizes and spacing). No material
sampling or testing was performed as part of this assignment.
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Structural Assessment Letter Report April 19, 2018
First Agape AME Zion Church, Bethesda, MD Page 2
DTSE Project No. 0054-003-01

Inspection Findings and Conclusions

In 2007, the existing structure was damaged by a fire which caused it to be uninhabitable since that time.
Approximately four years ago, the structure was impacted by a collapsed tree which severely damaged the south
and west portions of the roof structure such that there has been a very large opening in the roof (Photo Nos. 8 and
10 thru 13). Not only has this portion of the roof been completely compromised, the structure beneath this opening
has been exposed to the elements for over 10 years, including rain, wind, snow, and frankly, local wildlife. In our
opinion, this portion of the structure cannot be saved.

Though no area of the structure is completely unaffected by the fire or the collapsed tree, the front (east end) of the
structure is relatively unscathed in comparison to the west and south portions. As seen in Photo Nos. 14 thru 16,
the roof and wall framing of the entrance enclosure as well as the first 5’ to 6’ of the main structure (including the
bell tower) remain upright, plumb and intact. In our opinion, it is indeed possible to carefully detach this portion of
the structure from the remainder of the structure for the purposes of re-integrating it into a replacement structure,

Recommendations

Although it is possible to save the small front portion of the structure that was generally unaffected by the fire or
tree collapse, we would be remiss if we did not mention that doing so would entail time-consuming and costly
shoring to temporarily stabilize and remove such from its existing location so that the remainder of the structure can
be demolished. It should also be noted that the lifting and transport of this portion of the structure will involve risk
inherent with such activities. For these reasons, our primary recommendation is that the entire structure should be
demolished and replaced in-kind.

Assuming that complete demolition is deemed to be unacceptable, we strongly recommend that only the entrance
enclosure and the first 5’ to 6” of the main structure (including the bell tower) be saved, and that the remainder of
the structured be demolished. In addition, the exterior cladding of the portion to be saved (i.e., the asbestos wall
tiles and severely compromised asphalt roof shingles) should be removed in its entirety due to health and materijal
degradation reasons. In other words, only the underlying wood framing elements should be re-integrated into the
replacement structure.

If you have any questions regarding the content of this letter, or if you require additional services, please do not
hesitate to contact us.
Sincerely,

DURST & TAYLOR STRUCTURAL ENGINEERING, LLC

Vo 7T v

Nevin E. Taylor, P.E., Partner/Structural Engineer
Maryland P.E. No. 21386 (exp. 10-26-2018)

Attachments
Ce: File
D. Durst

21



Photo No. 1: Aerial view of 7700 Seven Locks Road, Bethesda, Maryland. Note
that the church structure is located in the northwest quadrant of where Seven
Locks Road runs beneath Interstate 495.

4 Lty
Photo No. 2: View of church structure (looking southwest) as seen from the
parking lot just north and on the other side of Seven Locks Road.
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Photo No. 4: Front (east) elevation view of structure as seen from the steps
leading up to the entrance from Seven Locks Road.
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Photo No. 5: View of the front entrance as seen from the northeast corner. Note
that the structure is wood-framed and clad with painted asbestos wall tiles and
asphalt roof shingles.

Photo No. 6: Partial view of the front half of the north elevation showing
boarded wall openings and windows, extreme moss growth on the intact portion
of the roof, as well as the collapsed section of the roof (right side).
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Photo No. 7: View of the northwest corner of the structure, showing similar
issues noted in the previous photo.

4 O ',“"-‘,V l{i"‘
Photo No. 8: View of the southwest portion of the structure (see from the
northwest) which has been impacted by a collapsed tree (purportedly in 2007).

25



Photo No. 9: General view of the structure’s southeast corner as seen from the
level of the streambed to the south. Note that the roof of the structure’s

southwest has been completely collapsed; however, the front portion of the
structure (including front entranceway and bell tower) remain intact.

Photo No. 10: Close-up view of the bell tower.
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Photo No. 11: Interior view of the structure (looking west from the front
entranceway), exhibiting the collapsed roof of the southwest corner.

s & v

Photo No. 12: Similar view as the previous photo, looking south from the center
of the floor plan.
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Photo No. 13: View collapsed roof framing along the west end of the structure.
Note that wall and roof framing consists of 1” thick wood boards of various
widths attached to solid sawn rafters or studs.
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Photo No. 14: View of structure’s relatively intact northeast corner at the front
entrance area.
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Photo No. 15: View of structure’s relatively intact southeast corner at the front
entrance area.

area.
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